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				We’ll even climb the Pillar like you always meant to,


				Watch the sun rise over the strand.


				Close your eyes and we’ll pretend,


				It could somehow be the same again.


				


				– Phil Chevron, ‘Song of the Faithful Departed’


				(Courtesy of Rockin’ Music)


	

				To Shane MacThomáis.


				A gifted historian and a true Dubliner.
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				Eason Collection shot of the Nelson Pillar taken in the 1920s. Courtesy of the National Library of Ireland.





				1. Before Lord Nelson


				O’Connell Street chimes with history.


				A walk down it introduces a visitor to some of the pantheon of Irish nationalist history, ranging from constitutional nationalists like Daniel O’Connell and Charles Stewart Parnell, to the militant socialist Jim Larkin. Now occupied largely by retail space, like so much of the capital, this street began life very differently. As with much of the north inner-city area around it, the eighteenth-century banker and developer Luke Gardiner played a central role in the development of the street. Gardiner had come from very humble beginnings, but as has been noted, ‘he became the founder of the family fortune; his combined career as banker, public servant enjoying high office, and speculative property developer made him an influential figure in the civic politics and in the development of Dublin.’1 Gardiner had been responsible for laying out Henrietta Street in the early 1720s, which rapidly became one of the most exclusive and in-demand housing locations in Dublin, and the work he would commence on what is now O’Connell Street from the 1740s was on an even more impressive scale. Described by James Malton as ‘the noblest street in Dublin’,2 what was formerly known as Drogheda Street saw huge changes when Gardiner turned what was once a narrow thoroughfare into a street that commanded attention and respect. Frank Hopkins has noted that:


				He demolished all the original buildings on the street and replaced them with imposing town houses. He doubled the width of the street to 150 feet and erected a tree-lined mall in the centre. The mall was fifty feet wide and 700 feet long and was enclosed by a small wall. Inside the wall there was a pathway lined with elm trees. The mall itself was called Gardiner’s Mall and the rest of the street was renamed Sackville Street, after Lionel Caulfield Sackville, first Duke of Dorset and Lord Lieutenant of Ireland from 1731 to 1737 and from 1751 to 1755.3


				Dublin was a city of many functions in the days of Gardiner. As Siobhán Marie Kilfeather has examined in her cultural history of the Irish capital, Dublin was, in many ways, a city of great importance. It ‘had a monopoly of professional services, including higher education and the higher courts of law. As in London, the sittings of parliament became linked to a social season.’4 S. J. Connolly has detailed how Dublin’s predominance in Irish life also came from its economic importance as a major manufacturing centre, with ‘large numbers employed in the manufacture of silk and woollen cloth, brewing and distilling, sugar refining, and a variety of luxury trades.’5 It was a city where political power (limited as it was for much of this period) was centred, and with that it was a city where the landed classes built houses and lived. Some have tended to view this century in an oversimplified manner. It must be acknowledged, however, that alongside this immense wealth was much poverty. Benjamin Franklin, on visiting the city in 1771, had felt compelled to write that while Dublin was a magnificent city in places, ‘the appearances of general extreme poverty among the lower people are amazing. They live in wretched hovels of mud and straw, are clothed in rags, and subside largely on potatoes.’6 We know much about the poverty of parts of eighteenth-century Dublin, thanks to a rather incredible census taken in 1798 by the Protestant Reverend James Whitelaw. As a security measure in light of the recent revolutionary activity, the Lord Mayor of Dublin issued an order to the populace of the city that they would affix a list of inhabitants of each home to the front of their dwellings. With many illiterate in the city, however, this task was given to Reverend Whitelaw, who published some of his findings in 1805, in which he stated:


				I have frequently surprised from ten to 16 persons, of all ages and sexes, in a room, not 15 feet square, stretched on a wad of filthy straw, swarming with vermin, and without any covering, save the wretched rags that constituted their wearing apparel. Under such circumstances, it is not extraordinary that I should have frequently found from 30 to 50 individuals in a house.7


				If Gardiner’s project for Sackville Street was ambitious, it was certainly in keeping with the spirit of the times in Dublin, at least for the prosperous inhabitants. The city saw incredible growth and construction during the eighteenth century, albeit uneven, and centred on the emerging east of the capital. As has been noted, ‘extensive, planned urban quarters as well as notable public buildings were almost exclusively to be found downriver from the medieval core.’8 The magnificent parliament building on College Green, the Royal Exchange (City Hall to us today), the Four Courts building and James Gandon’s masterpiece work, the Custom House, are in many ways all monuments still standing to a golden age for the elite. 


				In addition to these architectural undertakings, the Wide Streets Commission would truly transform parts of Dublin, enhancing the city in a way that would add to its standing and prestige. Its task was to control planning in the city, and to transform a city of alleys into one of streets. The Commissioners operated from the middle of the century, and as Andrew Kincaid has detailed, ‘they clearly had a comprehensive vision of the city; they imagined urban space as a planned and controllable unit, but also one that could be manipulated and made to serve several ideologies at once.’9 The architect Maura Shaffrey has written that:


				... having begun their work by opening up Parliament Street in 1762, the Commissioners went on to widen Dame Street. Following a grant for this development in 1777, they carried out plans until the end of the century which included the development of Sackville Street.10


				The widening of Sackville Street was just one contribution to Dublin made by this body, and Lower Sackville Street would bring the street through to the Liffey. By the end of the century the Carlisle Bridge had arrived, linking this impressive northside boulevard with the southside of the Liffey, providing a clear route to the now fashionable and influential College Green. The first stone of the Carlisle Bridge was laid by John Beresford, a relative by marriage to the Gardiner family and a central figure in the history of the Wide Streets Commissioners, on 5 March 1791. The initial bridge was the work of James Gandon, and like Sackville Street it would later see its name changed to honour Daniel O’Connell. 


				The Vanishing Statue of William Blakeney.


				Saint Patrick’s Day of 1759 in Dublin saw the unveiling of a public monument on Sackville Street, an occasion of great pomp and ceremony. This monument was placed in the location that would later be occupied by the Nelson Pillar, making it the first monument on the site. This was also the first statue erected to an Irishman in the capital. Long before Horatio Nelson’s exploits at the Battle of Trafalgar, and indeed long before the Spire of Light was even an idea on the table of an architecture firm, hundreds gathered for the unveiling of a statue to William Blakeney. Blakeney, a Limerick man, had been given the freedom of Dublin by the Corporation in 1757, and had a long military career behind him in defence of the Empire. Blakeney had fought at the Siege of Minorca in 1757, when it was captured by the French during the Seven Years’ War.
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			Antique print of William Blakeney.




				The decision to honour Blakeney with a monument had been made by the Friendly Brothers of Saint Patrick, an organisation that counted a certain Arthur Guinness among its members. Described by Robin Usher as a ‘masonic fraternity that opposed duelling and aimed to promote social harmony among the respectable, Catholics (nominally) included’,11 the Friendly Brothers of Saint Patrick frequently met at the Rose Tavern, which was one of the most notable taverns of eighteenth-century Dublin.


				J. T. Gilbert writes about the styling of the Friendly Brothers of Saint Patrick in his classic history of the city, first published in the 1850s. He noted that the members wore ‘old medals, suspended from a green ribbon, bearing on one side a group of hearts with a celestial crown’ and with the motto ‘Quis separabit?’ upon them.12 The society commissioned John Van Nost the Younger to carry out the work, a talented sculptor from a family with a long tradition in the field, and a man whose work can still be seen in Dublin today. The Van Nost family have made significant contributions to the history of sculpture in this city, and the statues of Iustitia (Lady Justice) and Mars in Dublin Castle were also the work of John Van Nost the Younger, placed in their present positions in 1753. Often ridiculed, the statue of Justice faces away from the city of Dublin and gazes inside what was the centre of British administration. A well-known Dublin rhyme joked:


				The Lady of Justice


				Mark well her station


				With her face to the Castle


				And her arse to the nation.13
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				The statue of Justice at Dublin Castle today (Image by Ciaran Murray).




                A report on the unveiling of the Blakeney statue appeared in the pages of the contemporary magazine Pue’s Occurrences. Published only days after the unveiling, the magazine noted that:


				Last Friday evening the fine Brass Statue of the Right Hon. Lord Blakeney, Knight of the Bath, richly gilded and done by Mr. Van Nost, was carried from his house in Aungier Street, and erected on a superb white marble pedestal in the centre of the Mall in Sackville Street, and Saturday, being St. Patrick’s Day, the anniversary festival of that Patron of Ireland, the Grand Knot of the Ancient and Most Benevolent Order of the Friendly Brothers of St. Patrick, assembled in the morning at the Rose Tavern in Castle Street, and, according to annual custom, walked in procession to St. Patrick’s Cathedral, where they heard a sermon preached by the Rev. Mr. Benson; after which they proceeded to the Mall where that curious figure was unmasked in the presence of that illustrious body, and amidst unnumbered spectators, amongst whom were many travellers and competent judges of statuary, who declared this performance to be equal, if not superior, to any piece of the kind in Europe, not only for the strength and judgment expressed in the likeness of the brave old original, but also in the beauty and elegance with which the drapery and armour is executed, and which will be a monument to perpetuate the memory of the noble veteran whom it represents, as well as a lasting honour to him and his native country at whose expense it was erected, and which produced a member so worthy of such a reward for his valour, integrity and unshaken fortitude in his eminent services to the King and the public. After the statue was unmasked the Society returned to the Rose, where an elegant entertainment was prepared for their reception.14


				This statue was all the more remarkable considering its subject was still alive, with Blakeney dying in September 1761. From contemporary sources, it appears that it would fall victim to frequent attack, thrown down from its pedestal and greatly damaged in 1763. Indeed, the monument was so badly damaged that it had to be taken away at the time. The point at which the statue was removed once and for all is somewhat unclear, but an article in the Hibernian Magazine in 1783 referred to it in the past tense, noting that there ‘formerly stood a pedestrian statue of General Blakeney at the site, but what became of it we know not.’15 A 1926 article in the Irish Independent on this mysterious statue claimed that it was taken to the brass foundry at Clondalkin and melted down to make cannon16, but this claim does not appear to be repeated elsewhere. It seems that, just like Lord Nelson who came later, the first monument to stand in this location was doomed from the beginning.


				British Imperial Monuments in Dublin before Nelson.


				As Yvonne Whelan has noted, public monuments are among the most strikingly symbolic features of any town or city, and they play an important role with regards to identity and meaning. Public monuments are ‘not merely ornamental features of the urban landscape but rather highly symbolic signifiers that confer meaning on the city and transform neutral places into ideologically charged sites.’17 In the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, monuments erected in the city of Dublin would prove divisive, presenting the city as one at the heart of an Empire from which some were seeking to remove the island entirely.


				Before the construction of the Nelson Pillar, several monuments to royalty and other figures of British importance were already present in the city. Undoubtedly the most controversial of the pre-existing works in Dublin was the monument to King William of Orange on College Green. The work of Grinling Gibbons, the monument was completed in 1701, only eleven years after the Battle of the Boyne, and within the lifetime of King William of Orange. The statue featured King William III upon a horse, with laurels of victory around his head. As M. G. Sullivan has noted, this statue served a symbolic purpose, and it was clear from the date of its erection that ‘the statue was not simply an ornament or a memoir, but was intended as a symbol and constant reminder of Protestant victory over Irish Catholicism.’18 This statue was frequently the victim of attack, for example in 1710, when its baton was stolen and the statue was smeared with mud. Three students from the nearby Trinity College were fined £1,000 and given a six-month jail sentence for their crimes against the work.19


				The statue became a site of annual rituals for loyalists in the city. In the early nineteenth century it was common for Orangemen to gather in July and November, dates that marked both the anniversary of the Battle of the Boyne and the birth of the king. The statue would be decorated with orange symbols, and shamrocks would be strewn under the feet of the horse to symbolise his victory over Catholic forces. Even before the erection of the statue, William was celebrated on the streets of Dublin. Jacqueline Hill has noted that ‘William’s birthday had been celebrated in Dublin as early as 1690, on which occasion a military procession took place, and in the evening the lords justices entertained the leading citizens to dinner.’20
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				The monument to King William III at College Green, from Ireland in Pictures, 1898.




				One beautifully illustrated work on Ireland, published in 1898, produced the image above and a description of Gibbons’ statue:


				This equestrian statue of William III stands in College Green, and has stood there, more or less, since AD 1701. We say more or less because no statue in the world, perhaps, has been subject to so many vicissitudes. It has been insulted, mutilated and blown up so many times, that the original figure, never particularly graceful, is now a battered wreck, pieced and patched together, like an old, worn out garment.21


				King George I gazed down on Dubliners from his vantage point on Essex Bridge from 1722, though today this monument can be viewed at the Barber Institute in Birmingham. Its simple inscription reads: ‘This statue of George I by John van Nost the Elder was erected in Dublin in 1722 and bought for the Barber Institute in 1937.’ This equestrian statue remained on the bridge until 1753, when it was removed owing to the rebuilding of the bridge, known to Dubliners today as the Grattan Bridge. Eventually placed in the grounds of the Mansion House, a new inscription was placed on its pedestal in 1798. Despite the symbolism now associated with that year in Irish history, the new inscription certainly took no pride in Theobald Wolfe Tone or the other revolutionaries, instead noting:


				Be it remembered that at the time when Rebellion and Disloyalty were the characteristics of the day, the Loyal Corporation of the city re-elevated this statue of the First Monarch of the illustrious House of Hanover. Thomas Fleming, Lord Mayor, Jonas Paisley and William Henry Archer, Sheriffs Anno Domini 1798.22


				1758 would see the placement of another statue to monarchy in the city, with King George II placed within St Stephen’s Green, the work of John Van Nost the Younger. Yet another equestrian statue, one commentator in 1818 noted that this statue was also the frequent victim of sabotage and attack:


				Many curious circumstances are connected with this statue: For a number of years it appeared to be destined to fall like that of Sejanus by the hands of ruffians; from its remote situation, mid-night depredators were induced to make a trial of their skill in sawing off a leg or an arm for the value of the material.23


				The nineteenth century would see the erection of many further monuments in the city, commemorating and celebrating not only figures from the monarchy but also figures of the British military establishment. Lord Nelson on Sackville Street was followed by the obelisk to the Duke of Wellington in the Phoenix Park in 1817, though it was not completed until the 1860s. The Earl of Eglinton joined George II in St Stephen’s Green from 1866, while a monument to the Earl of Carlisle was erected in the Phoenix Park in 1871. Lord Gough would join Wellington and the Earl of Carlisle there too in 1880, the work of the celebrated sculptor John Henry Foley, though it was completed after his passing by the sculptor Thomas Brock. There were other monuments too, though the above are among the most familiar to Dubliners. Perhaps that is due to the fact that, with the exception of Wellington, who remains standing in the Phoenix Park, all the others were destroyed by republican bombs, as will be examined in a later chapter.


	

		

			

				2. Nelson and the Ireland of his Time


				‘Oh the French are on the sea,’ says the Sean Bhean Bhocht,‘The French are on the sea,’ says the Sean Bhean Bhocht,‘Oh The French are in the Bay, they’ll be here without delay,And the Orange will decay,’ says the Sean Bhean Bhocht.24
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				Antique illustration of Horatio Nelson.


				On 2 October 1798, in that year of famed rebellion in Ireland, news of the apparent downfall of Napoleon Bonaparte was greeted by many with wild celebration on the streets of Dublin. As reports of the Battle of the Nile spread throughout the Empire, celebrations were underway at home and abroad, with The Times of London proclaiming that ‘A victory more glorious or complete is not recorded in the annals of our navy.’25 In his classic account of the 1798 rebellion, Thomas Pakenham has painted a vivid picture of Dublin at the time as a city that was illuminated and cheerful:


				To cram more candles into their windows, people used potatoes as candlesticks; the streets were crowded, according to the Evening Post, with ‘groups singing ‘God Save the King’ and ‘Rule Britannia’. Various devices were erected on prominent buildings – an illuminated transparency of George III on the Mansion House, and another on the Post Office of the brave Admiral Nelson defending with his sword the Harp and the Crown. It was months since the Irish loyalists had felt such a glow of patriotism.26


				The presence of the imagery of Nelson in the celebrations of the Irish capital indicates the extent to which he was viewed as a hero by many in the city, even during a year when the overthrow of British rule in Ireland was the aspiration of a revolutionary minority within the populace. His presence certainly showed that he was a well-known figure in the public mindset.


				Who was the man whose image was illuminated in Dublin? Horatio Nelson was born on 29 September 1758, at Burnham Thorpe in Norfolk. He was the sixth child and the fifth son of the Reverend Edmund Nelson, and in the words of his biographer Geoffrey Bennett, he was ‘taught the virtues of discipline, and encouraged to stand on his own young feet, in the vigorous and frugal life of a staunch Protestant household.’27 It was the influence of his uncle, however, Royal Navy officer Maurice Suckling, which brought him to a life in the Navy. Suckling was responsible for Horatio entering the books of the Raisonnable, which he commanded, in 1771. While he may have entered the Navy as a young protégé of his uncle, today he is considered one of the quintessential heroes of British history for his involvement with this force, achieving total control of the seas against French and Spanish opposition during the Napoleonic Wars. 


				A strong mythology has grown up around Nelson, who is remembered for bold action as a commander at sea, often at great personal risk. Nelson lost his right arm as a result of the Battle of Santa Cruz de Tenerife in 1797, and was blinded in one eye earlier in his career, and this sense that Nelson was always willing to risk his own life and limb was part of his public appeal. Indeed, he was something of a public celebrity in British life from the late 1790s. He is most closely associated with the Battle of Trafalgar in 1805, a definitive British victory over the combined French and Spanish fleet, where not a single British vessel was lost, though Nelson personally sustained injuries that cost him his life. Angus Konstam has noted that ‘the whole process of celebration, deification and national pride began almost before the smoke of battle had cleared.’28 His funeral in January 1806 remains one of the most lavish ever witnessed in London, with captured French and Spanish flags adorning the walls of Saint Paul’s Cathedral. His place in history was long secured by the time of Trafalgar, not so much for who he was as for what he came to represent to the British public.
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